Тема 12 THE VERB: THE PRESENT SIMPLE TENSE, THE PRESENT CONTINUOUS TENSE
The verb is a part of speech which denotes an action. The verb has the following grammatical categories: person, number, tense, aspect, voice and mood. These categories can be expressed by means of affixes, inner flexion and by form words.

1 According to their morphological structure verbs are divided into:

a) simple: ask, live, write;

b) derived (having affixes): widen, simplify, demonstrate, resell, disarm, unload, overdo, organize;

c) compound (consisting of two stems): whitewash, daydream, browbeat;

d) composite (consisting of a verb and a postposition of adverbial origin): run away, sit down, look up.

The postposition often changes the meaning of the verb with which it is associated: to give up, to bring up, to do away.

2 Verbs have:

a) Finite forms which can be used as the predicate of a sentence;

b) Non-finite forms - verbals (infinitive, participle I, participle II and gerund) which cannot be used as the predicate of a sentence:

a) She speaks perfect English. (predicate);

b) Her dream is to become an actress. (infinitive used as a predicative).

3 According to the way of forming the past simple and the participle II, all verbs may be divided into three groups: regular verbs, irregular verbs and mixed verbs.

Regular verbs form the past simple and participle II by adding -ed to the stem of the verb, or -d if the stem of the verb ends in -e.

The pronunciation of the -ed (-d) depends on the sound preceding it.

It is pronounced:

[id] after t, d: parted, handed;

[d] after voiced consonants except d and after vowels: signed, stayed;

[t] after voiceless consonants except t: booked, worked.

The following spelling rules should be observed:

a) Final y is changed into i before adding -ed if it is preceded by a consonant:

study – studied, hurry – hurried y remains unchanged if it is preceded by a vowel;

enjoy – enjoyed, play – played;

b) If a verb ends in a consonant preceded by a short stressed vowel, the final consonant is doubled:

stop – stopped, sob – sobbed, plan – planned;

c) Final r is doubled if it is preceded by a stressed vowel:

prefer – preferred, refer – referred; occur – occurred.

Final r is not doubled if it is preceded by a diphthong:

appear – appeared, fear – feared;

d) Final l is doubled when preceded by a short vowel, stressed or unstressed:

travel – travelled, quarrel – quarrelled.

Irregular verbs form their past simple and participle II in different ways:

swim – swam – swum (change of the root vowel);

take – took – taken (change their root vowel and add -en);

hold – held – held (change their root vowel and add -d);

bring – brought – brought (change their root vowel and add -t);

lend – lent – lent (change their final -d into -t);

cut – cut – cut (have the same form);

go – went – gone (verbs whose forms come from different stems);

be – was/were – been;

do – did – done, make – made – made (special irregular verbs).

Mixed verbs. Their Past Simple is of the regular type, and their Participle II is of the irregular type:

sow – sowed – sown;

show – showed – shown.

4 Semantically all verbs can be divided into two groups – terminative and non – terminative (durative) verbs.

Terminative verbs imply a limit beyond which the action cannot continue: to refuse, to break, to bring, to open.

Non-terminative (durative) verbs do not imply any such limit and the action can go on indefinitely: to live, to exist, to speak, to know.

But as most verbs in English are polysemantic they may be terminative in one meaning and non-terminative in another. The meaning of the verb becomes clear from the context. Compare:

I saw that film a week ago. (terminative)

I don’t believe in fairies. I never see any. (non-terminative)

5 English verbs can be divided into notional, auxiliary, and link verbs from the semantic and the syntactic point of view:

a) Notional verbs have a lexical meaning of their own and can have an independent syntactic function (a simple predicate) in the sentence:

He left early this morning.

b) Auxiliary verbs are those which have lost their meaning and are used as form words, thus having only a grammatical function. Here belong such verbs as to do, to be, to have, shall, should:

I have lost my way.

c) Link verbs have to a smaller or greater extent lost their meaning and are used in compound nominal predicate. Here belong such verbs as to be, to get, to turn, to become, to sound, to taste, to smell, to appear:

When water freezes and becomes solid we call it ice.

In different contexts the same verb can be used as a notional verb and an auxiliary verb or a link verb:

Her sister is in London now. (notional verb)

She is reading a telegram. (auxiliary verb)

She is a doctor. (link verb)

There is a special group of verbs which cannot be used without additional words, though they have a meaning of their own. These are modal verbs such as can/could may/might, must, ought to, shall/should, will/would etc.:

I couldn’t believe my eyes.

You should see a doctor.

6 English verbs fall into two groups – transitive and intransitive verbs.

Transitive verbs take a direct object (they express an action which passes on to a person or thing directly). Examples are invite, give, send, make, see, show, to love:

She took the letter and went out.

Intransitive verbs do not require any object. Here belong such verbs as stand, laugh, hear, think, go, come, swim:

As we stood on the steps, we felt the smell of fallen leaves coming from the garden.

There are verbs whose primary meaning is transitive and whose secondary meaning is intransitive. Examples are sell, read, add, act:

This book reads well. She is reading a book.

“And don’t be late,” he added.” They added a second bathroom to the house.

Some intransitive verbs can be used as transitive verbs when they obtain a causative meaning (the person or thing denoted by the object is made to perform the action.) Here belong such verbs as work, starve, run:

The stream which worked the mill came bubbling down in a dozen rivulets.

For that man, I’ve been running people through the front line!

Are you running your horse in the next race? (to cause an animal to take part)

There are verbs which in different contexts can be transitive or intransitive. Here belong such verbs as to open, to move, to turn, to change, to drop:

She is changing the baby. (transitive)

Will he ever change or will he always be selfish? (intransitive)

The door opened and he walked in. (intransitive)

The maid opened the door and showed the guest in. (transitive)

7 Tense and Aspect.

The category of tense is very clearly expressed in the forms of the English verb. This category denotes the relation of the action either to the moment of speaking or to some definite moment in the past or future. The category of aspect shows the way in which the action develops, whether it is in progress or completed.

Some of the English tenses denote time relations (the Indefinite form – Simple Present, Simple Past, Simple Future) others denote both time and aspect relations (Continuous, Perfect, Perfect Continuous).

There are four groups of tenses: Indefinite, Continuous, Perfect and Perfect Continuous. Each of these forms includes four tenses: Present, Past, Future and Future in the Past. Thus there are 16 tenses in English.

THE PRESENT SIMPLE TENSE
Formation and pronunciation

The simple present is formed from the infinitive without the particle to. In the third person singular it has the suffix -s/-es. 

-s is pronounced [z] after voiced consonants and vowels: bring – brings, stay – stays.

[s] after voiceless consonants: pack – packs, put – puts.

-es is pronounced [Iz] after sibilants -s, -ss, -z, -ch, -sh, -x: dress – dresses, buzz – buzzes, watch – watches, wash – washes, fix – fixes and [z] after –o preceded by a consonant go – goes, do – does.

Spelling

In the third person singular y changes to ie+s if it is preceded by a consonant:

study – studies, apply – applies.

y remains unchanged if it is preceded by a vowel:

play – plays, spray – sprays.

Use:

Simple present has different uses. It is not only used to express present time situations, but also to refer to future and past events.

General time

1 The simple present is often used (table 1):

Table 1

	Affirmative                     
	Interrogative
	Negative

	I play
	do I play?
	I do not play

	you play
	do you play?
	you do not play

	he/she/it plays
	does he/she/it play?
	he/she/it doesn’t play

	we play
	do we play?
	we do not (don’t) play

	they play
	do they play?
	they do not play


a) To talk about things in general:

Bob’s father is a good doctor.

I don’t like milk.

Ann studies at the University.

Mountain Everest is in Nepal.

b) To describe actions or events that happen all the time or repeatedly. This use of the simple present is often associated with such adverbial modifiers of frequency as sometimes, seldom, often, occasionally, always, never, ever, every day/week/month/year, daily, once/twice a week/month/year, on Mondays/Sundays etc.:

Her mother goes to that health resort twice a year.

Bob often goes to her parties.

c) To express a general statement or a universal truth:

A mother’s love means devotion, unselfishness, sacrifice.

A bad workman quarrels with his tools. (saying)

Air consists mainly of nitrogen and oxygen.

The moon goes round the earth.

Characterizing a person/thing

2 We can give a general characteristic to the person (or thing) using the simple present tense:

Like all young men, he likes to do everything in his own way.

This tree gives a pleasant shade.

Directions/instructions

3 We often use the simple present when we ask for and give directions and instructions:    –

– How do I get to the Opera House?

– You go straight ahead and then turn to the right

First (you) boil some water. Then warm the teapot. Then add three teaspoons of tea. Next pour on boiling water.

Summaries

4 The simple present is common in summaries of plays, stories etc.:

In Act I Hamlet meets the ghost of his father. The ghost tells him…

This book is about a man who deserts his family and goes to live on an island.

5 We use the simple present with the verb say when we are asking about notices or very recently received letters or quoting from books,

– What does that notice say?

– It says, “No parking.”

I see you’ve received a letter from your mother. What does she say?

Shakespeare says, “Neither a borrower nor a lender be.”

Temporary situations

6 The simple present isn’t usually used to talk about temporary situations or actions that are only going on around the present.

However, the simple present is used:

a) With verbs that cannot normally be used in continuous forms.

“Do you see anything from here?” “No, I can neither see nor hear the actors.”

b) In stage directions to express succession of point actions taking place at the moment of speaking (however, the present continuous is used for the ‘background’ – the situations that are already happening when the story starts, or that continue through the story):

Gwendolen (reproachfully): Mamma!

Lady Bracknell: in the carriage, Gwendolen!

(Gwendolen goes to the door. She and Jack blow kisses to each other behind Lady Bracknell.)

When the curtain rises, Juliet is sitting at her desk. The phone rings. She picks it up and listens quietly…

c) In commentaries (radio and TV):

Lydiard passes to Taylor, Taylor to Morrison, Morrison back to Taylor… and Taylor shoots – and it’s a goal!

7 The simple present is preferred to the present continuous when the happening itself is more important for the speaker than the progress of the action. This use of the simple present is also found in exclamatory, interrogative, and negative – interrogative sentences:

You two talk nonsense! I won’t listen to such nonsense!

Do you know who that singing girl is? Oh my God, how beautifully she sings!

Where are your examples? Why don’t you illustrate what you say?

Talking about the future

8 The simple present is used to refer to future events if they are part of a timetable or a program (entertainment programs, itineraries), fixed events (which are not simply the wishes of the speaker), calendar references:

The train leaves at 10.30.

On day three we visit Stratford - upon- Avon.

Tomorrow is Friday.

Christmas is on a Tuesday next year.

9 The use of the simple present is structurally dependent in a) time clauses; b) conditional clauses; c) concessive clauses; d) in object clauses after to see (that), to take care (that) to make sure (that)) when the action refers to the future:

a) Clauses of time referring to the future may be introduced by the conjunctions when, while, till, until, after, before, as soon as, once:

Don’t be late, honey. She won’t go to bed till you come.

Please phone me as soon as you get there.

b) Clauses of condition are introduced by the conjunctions if, unless, on condition (that), provided (providing) and in case:

I won’t forgive him unless he apologizes.

We’ll go on a picnic if it doesn’t rain tomorrow.

c) Clauses of concession are introduced by the conjunctions even if, even though, no matter how, whenever, wherever, etc.:

Even if he gets angry, I’ll try not to argue with him.

She will follow him whenever he goes.

d) Object clauses after to see, to take care and make sure are introduced by the conjunction that or joined asyndetically:

She will take care that nobody hurts the boy at that school.

I’ll make sure that nobody overhears us.

Note: In clauses other than those of time and condition, the Simple Future is used even if these clauses are introduced by the conjunctions if and when:

Don’t wait here! I can’t say when he’ll be back. (object clause)

She simply wants to know if you will show that letter to them. (object clause)

10 The use of the simple present with reference to the future is also structurally dependent in some special questions:

Where do we go now?

When do they start?

‘Historic’ present

11 We may find the simple present in literary style to describe a succession of actions in the past (especially to make the narration seem more immediate, vivid and dramatic). It is often called historic or dramatic Present:

She arrives full of life and spirit. And about a quarter of an hour later she sits down in a chair, says she doesn’t feel well, gasps a bit and dies.

12 The simple present is used with a perfect or past meaning in introductory expressions like I hear, I see, I gather, I understand:

I gather he doesn’t want to marry her.

I hear they have bought a new house.

The Present Continuous Tense
Table 2

	Affirmative
	Interrogative
	Negative

	I am working
	am I working?
	I am not working

	you are working
	are you working?
	you are not working

	he/she/it is working
	is he/she/it working?
	he/she/it isn’t working

	we are working
	are we working?
	we aren’t working

	they are working
	are they working?
	they aren’t working


Formation and spelling

The present continuous is built up by means of the auxiliary verb to be in the simple present and the participle I. The suffix -ing is added to the stem of the verb. In writing the following spelling rules should be observed:

a mute -e at the end of the verb is dropped before the suffix -ing:

rise – rising, give – giving;

a final consonant is doubled if it is preceded by a short stressed vowel:

put – putting, begin – beginning;

final -r is doubled if it is preceded by a stressed vowel:

occur – occurring, refer – referring;

Final -l is always doubled:

travel – travelling, quarrel – quarrelling (Am. Eng. – traveling, quarreling)

Use:

The present continuous is generally used to talk about temporary actions and situations that are going on ‘around now’(before, during and after the moment of speaking).

‘Around now’

1 We use the present continuous to talk about temporary actions and situations that are going on ‘around now’:

She can’t answer the telephone. She is bathing the baby at the moment.

2 It is used for an action happening about this time but not necessarily at the moment of speaking:

– What are you doing these days?

– I am writing an interesting book about wild animals.

Changes

3 We also use the present continuous to talk about developing and changing situations, even if these are long-lasting:

Let's stay at home today. The weather is changing for the worse.

The population of the world is rising.

The universe is expanding, and it has been expanding since its beginning.

Annoying habits

4 The present continuous is used to say that something happens more often than we think it normal or reasonable. This use of the present continuous gives an emotional colouring to the statement.

Often such adverbials as always, constantly, continually. Are found in these sentences. Compare:

Ann says that her granny always complains though she has nothing to complain of. (It merely means that her granny does it regularly)

Ann says that her granny is always complaining though she has nothing to complain of. (It means that Ann’s granny complains more often than Ann thinks it normal or reasonable.)

Their new car is always breaking down. They want to sell it.

Note: Notice the following sentence patterns:

I wonder if all grown-up people play that childish way when nobody is looking?

When Adeline is grinning we know she is happy.

Talking about the future

5 The Present Continuous is used mostly to talk about fixed plans, personal arrangements in the near future, especially when the time and place have been decided:

We are leaving for Boston in a week.

“I am sailing early next month,” John said.

6 We can also use be going + infinitive to talk about future plans.

This structure is used:

a) To emphasizes the idea of intention, of a decision that has already been made:

We’re going to buy a new house.

Bob and Ann are going to get married.

b) To predict the future on the basis of present evidence:

Look at the sky. It’s going to rain.

Look out! We’re going to crash!

Verbs not used in progressive forms

7 Some verbs are never or hardly ever used in progressive forms. Many of these non-progressive verbs refer to states rather than actions. Some refer to mental states (e.g. know, believe, think); some others refer to the use of the senses (e.g. smell, taste).

Common non-progressive verbs:

believe, belong, consist, contain, doubt, fit, have, know, like, love, hate, matter, mean, own, owe, prefer, understand, seem, suppose, suspect, want, wish, agree, forbid, forget, find, need, hear, see, notice, respect, care for, refuse, remember, feel, measure, taste, smell, weigh, think, expect, depend, impress, etc.

Progressive and non-progressive uses

8 Some verbs have a stative meaning and a different active meaning. Typical examples are: be, feel, depend, have, measure, taste, smell, weigh, think, see, like, hear, expect, be used to imply that the subject is temporarily exhibiting some quality:

(be in the meaning of behave + adjective): You are being silly today;

see meaning meet by appointment, interview, visit:

I am seeing my parents tomorrow;

feel in the medical sense can take either form:

How does she feel today?

How is she feeling today?

expect when it means await:

I am expecting an important letter today;

weigh to measure (by means of scale) how heavy something or somebody is:

Sue is weighing herself on the scales;

smell to use one's sense of smell:

She is smelling the fish;

hear meaning receive news of or from:

Are you hearing anything from him?

have except when it means possession (have can be used in the continuous form when it is a part of a set phrase, as in: to have a smoke, to have a walk, to have breakfast/lunch/dinner/supper, to have tea/coffee, to have a good holiday, to have a bath/shower; or when it is followed by the words problem, difficulty, trouble):

The weather is fine and we are having a wonderful time here.

They are having some problems with their son.

9 Sometimes some of the non-progressive verbs may also be occasionally used in the continuous form, though on the whole, it is not typical of them. In this case the continuous form gives them emotional colouring:

“Dear Amy,

I’ve already forgotten all about it. I’m liking my new life here very much ”

They are always wanting to do something they should not do.

10 Some durative (non-terminative) verbs may be used either in the simple present or in the present continuous without any marked change in the meaning. Here belong such verbs as to shine, to hope, to wear, to look (= to seem) and some others:

We have had no news from him but we are still hoping.

